FILED

SEP 18 1992

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM REAVES,

CASE NO. 79,575

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA. (Criminal Division)

Jonathan Jay Kirschner, Esq. Florida Bar No. 407577
Carbia, Kirschner & Garland, P.A. 100 Avenue A, Suite 1-F
Fort Pierce, Florida 34950
(407) 489-2200
Fax No.: (407) 489-0610
Counsel for Appellant

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court. He will be referred to as appellant or by name in this brief.

The Record on Appeal is consecutively numbered. All references to the Record will be by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. All references to the previous record in this case will be by the symbol "PR" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Additionally, two (2) motions to supplement the record have been filed by appellant, and upon receipt of that supplemented record, references to it will be referred to as "SR" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Reaves was indicted for first degree murder in the death of Deputy Sheriff Richard Raczkoski by an Indian River County Grand Jury on October 8, 1986. (PR 2051-2055) Count I of the indictment alleged that the crime was committed from "a premeditated design to effect the death of Deputy Raczkoski". Count II alleged possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and Count III alleged trafficking in cocaine. The State subsequently dismissed Counts II and III of the indictment, and those charges never were re-filed. (PR 2429, 2532)

The case proceeded to trial in August, 1987. Appellant was convicted and sentenced to death, and subsequently appealed that conviction and sentence. On January 15, 1991, this Court rendered its opinion reversing appellant's conviction and sentence, and a mandate reflecting same was issued on April 1, 1991. (R 2349)

The case proceeded to jury trial again in February of 1992, where a verdict of guilty to first degree murder and recommendation of death by a 10 to 2 margin were returned. (R 1811, 2320) Judgment was entered, and the trial judge subsequently imposed a sentence of death. (R 2328-2334) Findings of fact in support of the trial judge's ruling were entered in writing. (R 3009-3026)

Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial which was denied, and this appeal follows. (R 2982-2996)

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### THE PRE-TRIAL PROCEEDINGS AND ISSUES.

On April 17, 1991, Acting Circuit Judge Walsh entered an order specially appointing the undersigned counsel as a special public defender pursuant to Chapter 27.53, Fla.Stat., and Chapter 925.036, Fla.Stat., to represent William Reaves through trial and any penalty phase proceedings. (R 2366) Appellant subsequently filed a Notice of Defendant's Intent to Participate in Discovery, as well as a Motion for Disclosure of Evidence. (R 2369-2378)

On July 26, 1991, hearings were held on appellant's Motion to Appoint Co-Counsel and to disqualify the Office of the State Attorney. (R 29-148).

At the Motion to Disqualify, the State first called Bruce Colton as a witness, who testified that he had been the State Attorney for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit since November of 1985, and previously had been an Assistant Public Defender from October of 1972 through December of 1973. Colton further stated that he had no present recollection of ever meeting communicating with the defendant. Colton testified that he had attempted to shield himself from any involvement in the current prosecution of Reaves and that he had not spoken with the current prosecutor, Mr. Barlow, in "any way whatsoever" concerning the current prosecution. (R 42)

On cross-examination, Mr. Colton stated that he had interviewed and subsequently hired Barlow to work at the State Attorney's Office, he had evaluated Barlow's progress as a

prosecutor, he infrequently socialized with Barlow, he had "many" conversations with Mr. Barlow during his five (5) years of employment at the prosecutor's office, and although Colton could not recall any specific instances where he had had conversations with Prosecutor Barlow concerning communications with William Reaves, that it was "possible" that such communications did occur. (R 47-48)

Colton further testified that at the previous trial of Reaves, Colton's involvement was "substantial". (R 49) That involvement included, but was not limited to, "death qualifying" the prospective jurors, general voir dire of the jurors, presenting state witnesses, making the closing argument in the guilt and penalty phase, and ultimately urging the jury to recommend execution of his former client. (R 49-53)

David Morgan testified that he had assisted in the prosecution of Reaves at the first trial and further that he had been instructed by Mr. Colton to shield any information that he acquired during the first prosecution from the current prosecution led by Mr. Barlow. (R 53-56)

Assistant State Attorney Barlow then was called and examined by Katherine Nelson, who assisted Barlow in the prosecution of Reaves. Barlow testified that after being informed by Colton that the re-trial would be assigned to Barlow, that Barlow had no further discussions concerning the case. (R 59) Barlow further testified that the State Attorney investigator currently assigned to assist in the prosecution of William Reaves was Steve Kirby,

and that Kirby had had no conversation with Mr. Renew, who assisted in the investigation and prosecution of Reaves during the first trial. (R 60) On cross examination, Barlow stated that Steve Kirby and Tom Renew both worked in the State Attorney's investigative unit, and further that both investigators worked in the Fort Pierce office, in the same building, and on the same floor. Barlow further testified that Renew and Kirby knew each other for approximately five (5) years.

On September 19, 1991, William Reaves filed a Motion to Disqualify then acting Circuit Judge Thomas J. Walsh, Jr. based upon certain disclosures made by Judge Walsh on the July 26, 1991 hearing. On September 24, 1991, the trial court entered an order granting the motion. (R 2469-2484) On October 2, 1991, the Chief Judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit issued an order appointing County Court Judge James B. Balsiger, of Indian River County, to act as a Circuit Court Judge for the Reaves trial. (R 2493)

Reaves subsequently filed a Motion to Appoint a Mental Health Expert, Dr. William Weitz, of Boca Raton, Florida to confidentially examine Mr. Reaves and to assist the defense in preparing for trial. (R 2413-2415). On July 26, 1991, the trial court entered an order appointing Dr. Weitz to confidentially examine William Reaves and consult with the defense pursuant to the defendant's motion. (R 2431-2434). On November 4, 1991, appellant filed his supplemental witness list, listing the name of Dr. Weitz. (R 2507)

On January 6, 1992, the State filed its Motion to Prohibit Testimony of Abnormal Condition Not Constituting Legal Insanity. (R 2577-2605). On January 16, 1992, a non-evidentiary hearing was held on the motion. The State relied on this Court's decision in <a href="Chestnut v. State">Chestnut v. State</a>, 538 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1989), to support the contention that Dr. Weitz ought not be permitted to testify in the guilt phase of the proceeding. Appellant did not contest the fact that under <a href="Chestnut">Chestnut</a>, Id., evidence of an abnormal mental condition not rising to insanity would be inadmissable to show that a defendant did not have the requisite specific intent to commit first degree murder. Appellant did object however, to excluding psychological testimony if admissable for some other purpose.(R 210-211). At the hearing, the trial court granted the State's Motion to Preclude such testimony limited solely to the "Chestnut" issue, and on January

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The trial court did not however, rule out that psychological testimony might be admissable for other purposes. The Court specifically ruled:

Okay, I'm going to grant the state's motion, but it is, again, only inadmissable to negate the specific intent required to convict a (sic) first degree premeditated ...they're right, they could come in and testify to something else, I don't know what they may try to testify to. Certainly, under Chestnut, they cannot negate the specific intent. ...but, you know, I just---I'm being very cautious, but I am not about to enter an order that says for all reasons no psychologist can testify in quilt phase. I think that's just---I'm not going to say that. I will say so far as if he tried to do it to show that he did not have the specific intent required to convict somebody of first degree premeditated murder, I will exclude that, that's excludable, but just having a blanket saying that under no circumstances can a psychologist testify, I'm not going to sign something like that, but

17, 1992, a written order reflecting same was entered. (R 2618)

On February 11, 1992, appellant filed his Motion to Disqualify Trial Judge/Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction. (R 2846-2850) The motion was summarily denied at a hearing on February 14, 1992. (R 265-266)

#### THE TESTIMONY AT THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL

The first witness called by the State was Jerry Fitzgerald. Fitzgerald testified that he processed the crime scene with the assistance of crime scene technician Michaela Scheihing. crime scene was located at the Zippy Mart located on Route 60 between I-95 to the west and Vero Beach to the east. (R 769) Zippy Mart is bordered by Route 60 on the north and 82nd Avenue on the west. (R 773) Upon arriving on the scene, Mr. Fitzgerald observed a Sheriff's Department's car parked in front of the telephones facing the phones. (R 771) An ice machine was located in front of the Zippy Mart on the sidewalk, and a "Dempsey dumpster" was located on the east side of the store. (R 771) There was bullet damage both to the Dempsey dumpster and the ice machine. (R 782) The bullet striking the ice machine hit the lower, left hand part of that machine, and two (2) bullets struck the dumpster. (R 783) Fitzgerald identified State's exhibit #11, consisting of the officer's belt and holster, and the exhibit was admitted over objection by appellant. (R 812)

certainly as to what Chestnut is direct to, I will
grant the motion. (R 212-213)[Emphasis supplied]

Fitzgerald further testified that when he initially recovered Officer Raczkoski's pistol, the pistol contained three (3) live cartridges and three (3) empty shell casings. (R 815) Three (3) rounds had been fired from the deputy's gun. (R 816)

Mr. Fitzgerald then identified the shoes worn by the deputy at the time of the shooting. The shoes were admitted into evidence as Exhibit 9 over objection by appellant. (R 818-821) Also admitted was State's Exhibit 19, containing approximately four and a half (4 1/2) ounces of cocaine. Micheala Scheihing testified that she was a crime scene technician with the Indian River County Sheriff's Department in 1986. (R 861) She assisted Fitzgerald in processing the crime scene. (R 863) She located and recovered a bullet found inside a trailer located northwest of the Zippy Mart. (R 864)

Clinton Edward Fredell, Jr., was a mechanic/welder working on farm and citrus machinery in September of 1986 in Indian River County. (R 881) On the afternoon of September 22, 1986, Fredell noticed the appellant attempting to push a car near Fredell's driveway. Fredell offered to assist appellant and ended up agreeing to attempt to fix appellant's car. Fredell drove appellant to a friend's residence, dropped him off, and Reaves subsequently returned to Fredell's residence at approximately 3:00 to retrieve his automobile. At that time, appellant was wearing red shorts, a white t-shirt and black tennis shoes. Fredell charged Reaves \$15.00 for the repairs to the automobile, which the appellant paid. (R 885) Appellant did not appear to

Mr. Fredell to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs. ( R 887)

Susan Erhardt was employed with the Indian River County Sheriff's Department as a dispatcher in September of 1986. (R 894) On the night of the shooting, Ms. Erhardt was on duty with Cathleen Cooney. Two (2) persons worked at the 911 dispatching station, one to monitor the radio calls, and one to monitor telephone calls. (R 895). The console monitoring incoming 911 telephone calls displayed the telephone number from which the call was made, as well as the location/address of the telephone from which that call was made. (R 896) All of the communications, both telephonic and radio, are recorded magnetic, reel to reel tape. (R 899) The machine that contains that magnetic tape is approximately seven (7) feet tall, and has a red display located near the top, which displays the time of day in hours, minutes and seconds. (R 909-910) Additionally, as the magnetic tape is recording 911 radio and telephone transmissions, the recording machine imprints the precise time onto the magnetic tape itself, so that when the tape is replayed, the precise timing of events can be determined. (R 910-911)

Ms. Erhardt received a 911 telephone call at approximately 3:06 A.M. in the early morning hours of September 23, 1986. Erhardt answered the phone, and whoever made the call hung up. (R 902) Erhardt informed the radio dispatcher to send a patrol car to investigate the source of the call at the Zippy Mart located at 8195 State Road 60. (R 902) Ms. Erhardt then heard Deputy

Raczkoski indicate on his radio that he was enroute to that location. (R 903) Some time later, Deputy Raczkoski called the 911 dispatcher to check the name of William Reaves for any outstanding warrants. When the warrant check came back clear, the 911 telephone console again rang, and this time Deputy Raczkoski requested Susan Erhardt to call the cab company and find out when the cab William Reaves had requested would arrive at the Zippy Mart. (R 905) Ms. Erhardt called the City Cab Co., and asked if they had dispatched a cab to the Zippy Mart. The cab company representative responded affirmatively, and Susan Erhardt told Cathleen Cooney that the cab was on its way to the Zippy Mart. Subsequently, Ms. Erhardt heard a radio transmission to the effect that a deputy was "down" and to get an ambulance. (R 906)

Cathleen Cooney was the dispatcher on duty with Susan Erhardt. (R 914) Ms. Cooney testified that a dictaphone master tape system records all radio transmissions and telephone calls to and from the 911 emergency center. (R 918) Her testimony essentially corroborated the sequence of events outlined by Susan Erhardt. Cooney overheard the conversation between Raczkoski and Earhardt about getting a cab. Cooney testified Deputy Raczkoski did not sound excited, did not sound upset and gave no indication whatever that he was in any kind of trouble. (R 933)

Sandra Fox was employed as a communications supervisor in September of 1986 and testified that the 911 consoles viewed by the dispatchers displayed dates and times of incoming

communications. (R 936) She stated that the 911 system was working accurately on September 22, 1986, but could not state that the clocks viewed by the dispatchers were synchronized with the time imprinted upon the magnetic tape recording all communications in the dictaphone system. (R 937) On cross-examination, Ms. Fox testified that the singular most accurate measure of time between communications would be that time that was electronically imprinted on the 911 tape. (R 939)

Howard Whitaker was a supervisor for the Miami Herald in September of 1986, supervising newspaper carriers and on occasion delivering newspapers. (R 942) Whitaker was training a new newspaper carrier on that morning. (R 946) While driving behind the Zippy Mart, Whitaker heard loud "reports", that he believed sounded like someone shooting off fireworks. (R 948-949) Whitaker approached the parking lot of the Zippy Mart, he noticed a police vehicle with its door open. Whitaker pulled slightly off the road, and yelled to the deputy to see if he could provide assistance. Whitaker then noticed a black male wearing red shorts, a white shirt, white socks and white footwear running from the scene. The man fled the scene into a wooded area. (R Whitaker observed and approached Deputy Raczkoski, who lay supine on the parking lot. The deputy had his pistol in his hand. (R 951) Whitaker could not see any indications of wounds, so he reached under Deputy Raczkoski and found blood in the area of the deputy's back. (R 951) Whitaker then went to the deputy's car, staying down low, for Whitaker was unaware of whether the

shooter was still in the area. (R 951) Whitaker opened the passenger door of the vehicle, partially closed the passenger door in order to ascertain the number of the vehicle, reopened the door and leaned inside. Whitaker accomplished this while staying as low as he could. (R 964) Whitaker then leaned across the front seat, reached up by the steering wheel and pulled the microphone, which was draped over the handle of the spotlight located on the outside of the driver's door, and retrieved the microphone into the car. At that point, Whitaker keyed the microphone and attempted to make an emergency call. Subsequent to that, Whitaker proceeded to the telephones located in front of the Zippy Mart and called 911. (R 941-965) Upon completing the telephone call to 911, as Whitaker returned to render aid to the deputy, Deputy Raczkoski discharged his weapon one (1) time. (R 956-957)

Whitaker stated that there was something unusual about the way the person he observed fleeing the scene was running, and that he had only seen that kind of running at one other time in his life; in Vietnam under fire. (R 966-967)

Detective Perry Pisani was a general assignment detective in September of 1986. (R 971) Pisani was the on-call investigator on the morning of the shooting. (R 972) Pisani collected and preserved certain items of evidence, including the master 911 tape recording the telephone conversations and radio transmissions between Deputy Raczkoski and the 911 dispatchers. Pisani also collected a piece of paper found in Deputy

Raczkoski's car, on which was written the following information: William Reaves, black male, 4336 38th Avenue, date of birth 12/30/48. (R 975-976) Pisani stated that he constructed and edited a version of the events taken from the 911 master tape onto an additional tape, which the State of Florida attempted to introduce into evidence as Exhibit 78. Detective Pisani then explained the meanings of the various "ten" codes commonly in use by law enforcement in September of 1986. Detective Pisani testified that his reconstruction of the 911 master tape was an attempt to try to put it in "sequence", so that people would more readily understand the series of events. (R 1011) Mr. Pisani admitted that his taped version would not be accurate to the second, and further, that the single best measurement of time between any two (2) transmissions would be that time which was reflected and imprinted on the 911 master tape. (R 1012)

Detective Pisani testified that a "10-39" call was a 10 code wherein the party transmitting is requesting a confirmation of a given event. Deputy Raczkoski's telephoned request to the 911 dispatchers to confirm that a cab had been sent to the Zippy Mart became known in the course of the trial as the "10-39" call. Detective Pisani testified that the amount of time between Deputy Raczkoski's "10-39" call and Mr. Whitaker's telephone call to 911 reporting the downed deputy, was two (2) minutes and forty-seven (47) seconds. (R 1014)

Whitaker testified that prior to making the telephone call to 911, he attempted to utilize Deputy Raczkoski's car radio to

telephone for assistance but was unsure whether or not the message had gotten through. (R 954, 955) Dispatcher Erhardt testified that prior to receiving the telephone call from Mr. Whitaker, a broken radio transmission was received, the substance of which being that a deputy was "down" and requesting an ambulance. (R 906)

Detective Pisani testified that if the "walked on" radio call was, in fact, Mr. Whitaker attempting to call for help on Deputy Raczkoski's car radio, then the elapsed time from the "10-39" call until the "walked on" radio transmission was two (2) minutes and thirty-two (32) seconds. (R 1014, 1016, 1017)

Dr. Richard Peters was qualified as an expert in the field of emergency medicine, and testified to emergency procedures administered to Deputy Raczkoski upon his arrival at the Indian River Memorial Hospital. Dr. Peters testified that there were four (4) entrance wounds, two (2) in the small of the back, one (1) somewhat lower than that and one (1) up near the left shoulder. (R 1021) Dr. Peters first saw the patient at 3:45 A.M. Deputy Raczkoski was able to speak and complained about abdominal pain as well as having no feeling in his legs. (R 1022) At approximately 3:59 A.M., Dr. Peters turned responsibility for Deputy Raczkoski over to Dr. Large for further treatment. (R 1026)

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