FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 23 1992

WILLIAM REAVES, Appellant/Cross-Appellee,	CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
vs.	CASE NO. 79,575
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee/Cross-Appellant.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

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

Appellant next asserts that "the most egregious abuses" occurred during the State's rebuttal argument. Brief of Appellant at 55. First, citing two instances, Appellant complains that the State "repeatedly indulged in personal attacks on appellant's counsel, as well as on appellant." Id. During neither of these "egregious abuses," however, did Appellant even register an objection, much less a motion for mistrial, assumedly because he did not find them objectionable at the time they were

made. <u>See</u> (T 1735, 1738-39). Even now, when read in context, they do not support Appellant's characterization of them, and most assuredly do not constitute fundamental error.

Nor do they support Appellant's assertion that "[t]his not so thinly veiled approach was abandoned in favor of less subtle strategies when the prosecutor told the jurors that appellant's counsel was attempting to 'insult your intelligence.'" Brief of Appellant at 55. This latter comment occurred before the others; thus, Appellant's argument makes no sense. Moreover, Appellant's objection to this latter comment was sustained, and his motion to strike was granted. (T 1734). He neither requested a curative instruction, nor moved for a mistrial. He obtained the relief he requested and was due no more.

Appellant's next complaint must be put in context. During his closing argument, Appellant contended that it would not have made sense for him to decide to kill Deputy Raczkoski because the officer had just called his name and birthdate into dispatch for a warrants check. (T 1695). In rebuttal, the State was attempting to show that it made perfect sense, because, by killing the officer, there would be no witness. The fact that Appellant's name had been called in before the officer's death was very little proof of guilt:

There would have been no crime that could have been proved against that Defendant by the dispatchers or anyone else at that point. The only witness that could have proved a crime was Deputy Raczkoski because he would have been the only witness to prove that the Defendant was carrying that gun that night.

That's why he was killed. He was the witness. He was the one person in this world that could have said in a court of law on a

witness stand that, 'That Defendant, William Reaves, is the person on the morning hours of September 23rd that I met at the Zippy Mart carrying that weapon and I arrested him for that.'

The Defendant knew that. The Defendant made sure that --

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection, Your Honor. We need to approach.

(T 1741-42). At side-bar, Appellant moved for a mistrial and objected to "prosecutorial misconduct for arguing through the acting as the slain deputy and pretending to be the deputy as part of argument. It's inflammatory and improper." (T 1742). The trial court overruled the objection and denied the motion for mistrial (T 1742) -- and properly so, since the State's argument was appropriate rebuttal to Appellant's closing argument.

Next, without any citation to the record, Appellant complains that the State was arguing that defense counsel was attempting to confuse the jury about premeditation and was responsible for the instructions on all the lesser-included offenses. Brief of Appellant at 55. Presumedly, Appellant is referring to argument on pages 1742-43 of the trial transcripts, wherein the State was noting Appellant's absence of argument on his confession which proves his motive and premeditation. The State was merely beseeching the jury not to be confused by all of the lesser-included offenses which Appellant hopes the jury will consider. The trial court recognized the propriety of the State's argument and denied his motion for mistrial. (T 1744).

Finally, Appellant complains, again without citation to the record, that the trial court only interceded when the State attempted to make a "Golden Rule" argument. Brief of Appellant

at 56. The trial court did intercede at one point, without any objection from Appellant, and instructed the jury to disregard the statement and asked the State to rephrase it. (T 1751). Contrary to Appellant's assertion, by doing so promptly the trial court sufficiently cured any error engendered by the State's inartful wording.

As this Court has stated on many previous occasions, "a motion for a declaration of a mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge," and that "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity." Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885 (1979). It is also well-settled that "both a motion to strike the allegedly improper [comments] as well as a request for the trial court to instruct the jury to disregard the [comments] are thought to be necessary prerequisites to a motion for mistrial." Palmer v. State, 486 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Here, Appellant failed to satisfy his burden. times, Appellant did not even object to the alleged improper Other times, he objected, but requested no relief. Still others, he moved for a mistrial, but neither moved to strike nor requested a curative instruction. Now, on appeal, he claims that all of these "egregious abuses" cumulatively deprived him of a fair trial. They did not.

In <u>State v. Murray</u>, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984) (citation omitted), this Court enunciated the appropriate test for review of such claims:

[P]rosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether 'the error committed prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial.' The appropriate test for whether the error is prejudicial is the 'harmless error' rule set forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), and its progeny. We agree with the recent analysis of the Court in United States v. Hasting, S.Ct. 1974, 76 L.Ed.2d 103 (1983). The supervisory power of the appellate court to reverse a conviction is inappropriate as a remedy when the error is prosecutorial harmless: misconduct indifference to judicial admonitions is the proper subject of bar disciplinary action. Reversal of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations.

As noted previously, only a few of the State's comments were inappropriate. In each instance, the trial court admonished the State and instructed the jury appropriately. None of these instances, either singularly or cumulative, was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Moreover, in light of the physical evidence linking Appellant to the crime, his flight from the state immediately after the shooting, his confession to Eugene Hinton, and his confession to the police upon his arrest, there is no reasonable possibility that the few improper comments by the prosecutor during closing arguments affected the jury's verdict in this case. Consequently, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S ATTEMPTED NARCOTICS TRANSACTION WHICH RESULTED IN HIS APPREHENSION FOR THE INSTANT MURDER (Restated).

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion in limine, seeking to exclude evidence of Appellant's attempt to buy or sell drugs shortly before his arrest in Georgia. In support of his motion, Appellant alleged that the attempted drug transaction did not constitute evidence of flight, and thus was not relevant. Moreover, because it was evidence of another crime, its probative value, if any, was outweighed by its prejudicial effect. (R 2855-58). At the hearing on the motion, the State responded that Appellant's arrest in Georgia, which thereafter produced a detailed confession, was inseparable from the other evidence. Not only was the attempted drug transaction a part of his escape, but Appellant referred to it several times in his taped confession. Because the trial court had not read the confession, it took the motion under advisement. (T 270-73).

During the testimony of the State's first witness, the identification technician charged with collecting and maintaining control over all of the physical evidence, the State indicated that it wanted to introduce the cocaine seized from Appellant upon his arrest. (T 845-47, 849-52). Although acknowledging that he had not moved to suppress the cocaine itself, Appellant argued that evidence of the attempted drug transaction in Georgia was not relevant, or, if relevant, more prejudicial than probative. Ultimately, Appellant had no objection to the cocaine

being admitted, just the evidence of the attempted drug transaction. (T 848-49, 852-56). Finding that the transaction and cocaine were part of Appellant's flight from the crime, the trial court denied Appellant's motion in limine. (T 855, 856; R 2900). Later, when the State sought to introduce testimony relating to the attempted drug transaction, Appellant renewed his objection, which was again overruled. (T 1241).

In this appeal, Appellant maintains that the attempted drug transaction was not relevant to the killing or the flight and was offered merely to show bad character, or that, if relevant, was more prejudicial than probative. Brief of Appellant at 58-59. In Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 704, 707 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885 (1979), this Court stated, "Among other purposes for which a collateral crime may be admitted under Williams is establishment of the entire context out of which the criminal conduct arose." Since then, this Court and others around the state have allowed the admission of evidence of other crimes when the other crimes are "inextricably intertwined" with the charged offense. See, e.g., Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871 (1989); Henry v. State, 574 So.2d 66, 70-71 (Fla. 1991); Austin v. State, 500 So.2d 262 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. denied, 508 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1987); Garcia v. State, 521 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Tumulty v. State, 489 So.2d 150 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 496 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1986); Erickson v. State, 565 So.2d 328 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), rev. denied, 576 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1991).

In this case, the State's evidence established that, after Appellant shot Deputy Raczkoski, he ran to a friend's house where

he showered and changed clothes. (T 1163-88). Another friend, Jerry Bryant, picked up Appellant and drove him to the Colonial Motel in Melbourne where they stayed until Appellant took a cab to a shopping mall in Melbourne. (T 1224, 1227-31). Later that morning, Appellant purchased a one-way bus ticket from Melbourne to Albany, Georgia. (T 1233-39). Having discovered Appellant's escape route, the Indian River police called the Albany police and asked them to apprehend Appellant when he got off the bus. 1243-44). They described Appellant as a black male, approximately 5'9" tall, weighing around 150 pounds, with short hair and a dark complexion. (T 1247, 1248) In response, an undercover officer, Deputy Hall, and two uniformed officers, Deputies Enfinger and Daniel, went to the bus station. Appellant's bus drove up, Deputy Hall stood outside, while the other officers stayed in the unmarked police car. immediately a black male (Appellant) got off the bus approached the officer. First, Appellant asked where he might get a cab and was directed to a pay phone. Then, Appellant asked where he might stay and was directed to a Holiday Inn down the street. Because Deputy Hall did not think that Appellant was the suspect, he tried to get rid of him so that he could concentrate on the other people getting off the bus. When too many people fit the general description of the suspect, and when Appellant approached him about selling some cocaine, Deputy Hall decided to make a drug bust. (T 1244-49).

After approaching Deputy Hall about buying some marijuana and cocaine, Appellant told Deputy Hall that he had some cocaine for sale. They went into the men's restroom at the bus station,

where Appellant put down a J.C. Penney bag, pulled out a handgun (later identified as the murder weapon), put it back in, pulled out a big bag of cocaine, put it back in, pulled out a smaller bag of cocaine, and offered Deputy Hall a \$20 rock of crack cocaine to "try." Realizing that this person was the suspect he had come to find, Deputy Hall went into a stall under the guise of "trying" the cocaine, but emerged with a gun he retrieved from his ankle holster. At that point, Appellant grabbed the gun, they struggled, the gun went off, and Deputy Hall regained control over Appellant. Deputy Hall arrested Appellant and took him outside to the other officers. When Deputy Hall returned from talking to the bus station's security officer, Appellant bolted, and the three officers gave chase, ultimately subduing Appellant a few blocks away. (T 1249-54).

At the police station, Appellant identified himself as "Randy Martin," but the police quickly identified him from his fingerprints. (T 1288-1301). Later, after waiving his Miranda rights, Appellant gave a taped confession to the murder. 1328-33; Court's Exhibit #6). During this confession, Appellant claimed that he was "high" on cocaine at the time of the He also indicated that, after the murder, he asked Jerry Bryant to take him to his mother's house to pick up some cocaine. Bryant drove to Appellant's mother's house, dropped Appellant off before they got there, got the cocaine from Appellant's mother's house himself, and picked up Appellant again. Appellant agreed to give Jerry Bryant one half-ounce of cocaine if Bryant would drive Appellant to Melbourne, which he Appellant also stated that he went to Albany to sell the cocaine in order to finance his escape. (Court's Exhibit #6).

is evident from the foregoing, the attempted drug transaction which culminated in Appellant's apprehension for this murder was necessary to establish the entire context of the crime. Appellant's theory of defense was that he was provoked by Deputy Raczkoski and shot him before he realized what he was In other words, it was an accident, not a premeditated To rebut this contention, the State submitted evidence Appellant's elaborate flight from the area to show a consciousness of quilt. Part of Appellant's plan to evade capture and prosecution was admittedly to sell cocaine to finance his travel. This attempted drug transaction was in furtherance that plan and, contrary to Appellant's assertion, was relevant, along with his other acts in furtherance, to show a consciousness of quilt. Thus, the trial court did not err in allowing it into evidence. Even if it were error, however, it would have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury legitimately could have relied to reach the same verdict. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Consequently, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO TRY THE CASE (Restated).

Prior to the first trial in this case, Appellant's motion for change of venue was granted, and the case was transferred from the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Indian River County to the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in and for Sarasota

County. On April 1, 1991, this Court issued its mandate reversing the first conviction and remanding for a new trial. (R 2349). On April 11, 1991, the chief judge of Indian River County appointed Judge Walsh, a county court judge in the Nineteenth Circuit, as acting circuit judge to preside over the retrial. (T Pursuant to his appointment, Judge Walsh transferred venue from Sarasota County to the Fifth Judicial Circuit in and for Marion County because Sarasota County could not physically accommodate the trial. (R 2467, 2468). Upon motion by Appellant, Judge Walsh recused himself from the case because of his prior tenure with the state attorney's office and his "friendship" with defense counsel (R 2469-78, 2484), and the chief judge appointed Judge Balsiger, also a county court judge in the Nineteenth Circuit, as acting circuit judge to preside over the retrial. (R 2493).

On February 11, 1992, six days before trial, Appellant filed a motion to disqualify the trial court/motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, claiming that the chief judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit did not have authority to appoint a county court judge to try a case in the Fifth Judicial Circuit. (R 2846-50). At the hearing on the motion, the trial court summarily denied the motion, finding that it was not a "well founded motion at all." (T 265-66).

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